# A Study of the Relationship between Leadership Style and Workforce Productivity in Indian Information Technology Captive Centers

A Literature Review Proposal Presented

by

<sup>1</sup>Venugopal Padmanabha

<sup>2</sup>Vijayakumar Vardarajan, (Phd)

#### **ABSTRACT**

The leadership style adopted by the managers of IT captive centers in India has a significant effect on the productivity of their employees. IT captive centers are subsidiaries of foreign companies that provide IT services to their parent organizations. Several companies rely on IT captive centers for various functions such as e-commerce, supply chain management, and customer relationship management. The productivity of the IT captive center workforce depends on the work environment created by the leaders. Different leadership styles can have different impacts on employee motivation, collaboration, communication, and satisfaction. This literature review examines the challenges and opportunities associated with various leadership styles observed in IT captive centers of retailers in India. It also explores the best practices and recommendations for improving the leadership effectiveness and employee productivity in these captive centers. Some significant issues that are discussed in this review are:

The lack of clear direction and communication from leaders, which can cause confusion and uncertainty among employees about their roles and responsibilities.

The autocratic style of leadership, which involves making decisions without consulting or involving the team members, which can lead to low employee engagement and high turnover rates.

The need for trust and transparency between leaders and employees, which can enhance the performance and loyalty of the workforce.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLES	PAGE
ABSTRACT	197
TABLE OF CONTENTS	198
CHAPTER ONE LITERATURE REVIEW	199
> Introduction	199
CHAPTER TWO LEADERSHIP STYLES AND PRODUCTIVITY	200
A. Leadership Styles	201
> Autocratic	201
> Democratic	201
➤ Laissez-Faire	201
➤ Leadership Styles Selected for This Study	202
B. Rewards & Recognition on Workforce	202
C. Organization Performance	202
D. Organizational Culture	202
E. Employee Development and Training	202
F. Communication and Feedback	203
G. IT Captive Centers	203
H. Productivity	203
CHAPTER THREE SUMMARY OF THE LITERATURE REVIEW	204
REFERENCES	205

#### CHAPTER ONE LITERATURE REVIEW

#### > Introduction

Effective leadership is a key factor that influences the productivity of employees and helps organizations achieve their goals in the competitive and dynamic business environment. This research explores how different leadership styles affect the productivity of employees in IT captive centers in India. IT captive centers are subsidiaries of foreign companies that provide IT services to their parent organizations. The productivity of the IT captive center workforce is crucial for the operational efficiency and performance of the organizations. This research examines how different leadership styles shape the work environment, motivation, communication, and satisfaction of the employees in IT captive centers in India.

India, renowned for its burgeoning IT industry, has emerged as a significant hub for IT captive centers. These centers serve as critical support units for global product companies, providing essential technology services, software development, data analysis, and customer support. The effective management of these captive centers is essential to maximize productivity and meet the demanding expectations of the competitive retail market.

One of the major factors that affects an organization's success or failure is its leadership. The way a leader directs and motivates others to achieve organizational goals is known as their leadership style. There are various leadership styles that include democratic, transformational, bureaucratic, autocratic, charismatic, and transactional leadership styles. Both primary and secondary research have been done for this subject. A survey instrument based on a survey questionnaire was used to conduct the primary research using a quantitative methodology. Secondary research has been conducted through a review of previously published material.

This research will consider potential mediating factors such as employee engagement, job satisfaction, motivation, organizational culture, communication and feedback, teamwork and collaboration, and employee development and training. These factors can act as intermediaries between leadership style and workforce productivity relationship, shedding light on the mechanisms through which leadership influences productivity outcomes.

The investigations in this study hold significant implications for both practitioners and scholars in the areas of leadership and organizational behavior. By identifying the leadership styles and practices that positively impact workforce productivity in IT captive centers in India, organizations can make informed decisions regarding leadership development, training, and selection. This research also adds to the existing literature on how leadership influences productivity in a specific industry context.

#### CHAPTER TWO LEADERSHIP STYLES AND PRODUCTIVITY

#### A. Leadership Styles

There are different leadership styles for the organizations and workforce but here we are going to consider three major styles to study impact on the productivity of workforce they are as follows:

#### ➤ Autocratic

Decisions made by autocratic CEOs frequently lack significant involvement from their staff. They have a great deal of authority and control over the decision-making process. There may be a range of productivity effects. On the one hand, authoritarian leaders can give precise instructions and uphold rigid discipline, which may increase productivity in circumstances when tasks call for a particular and well-defined approach. This management approach, meanwhile, can also result in low staff morale, constrained inventiveness, and uninspired workers. Employee disengagement and a lack of commitment to their jobs may be present, which over time may reduce productivity.

#### ➤ Democratic

Democratic leaders seek the thoughts and advice of their team members before making decisions. This manner encourages teamwork, collaboration, and open communication. Democratic leadership may have a good effect on productivity. Employees are more motivated, engaged, and devoted when they feel appreciated and have a role in decisions that affect their job. This may promote a feeling of empowerment and ownership and boost productivity. Additionally, democratic leaders frequently promote innovation and creativity, enabling staff to experiment with fresh concepts and methods that might boost output.

#### ➤ Laissez-Faire

Laissez-faire leaders do not actively guide or advise their team members. They give them a lot of freedom and authority over decisions. This leadership style can have both positive and negative effects on productivity. Laissez-faire management can encourage innovation, initiative, and productivity when team members are highly skilled, self-driven, and capable of working independently. But when workers need more direction, structure, or support, a lack of it might cause them to get disoriented, lose their attention, and produce less. In addition, some team members may lose the desire to work hard or grow complacent in the absence of clear objectives or accountability.

Autocratic leadership is a style where leaders make decisions and choices without consulting or informing their team members. It emphasizes the absolute power of the leaders over the followers. Transformational leadership is a style where leaders inspire their followers to share their vision and values. They also motivate their followers to raise their expectations and performance. Rothfelder et al. (2013) quoted Atwater and Bass (1994) who stated that leaders transform the values and needs of the followers. Transactional leadership is a style that relies on rewards and punishments to improve the employees' performance (Sarwar, 2013). Laissez-Faire leadership is a style where leaders avoid interfering with the work assignments or providing guidance to their employees (Limsila and Ogunlana, 2008). Democratic leadership is a style where employees have the freedom to express their views and participate in the decision-making process (Dalluay and Jalagat, 2016).

A leadership style was the style of a senior employee or officer to drive his/her subordinates in an effective and efficient way by fulfilling the objectives of the organization as well as the employees (Yuki 2007). It depended upon the philosophy, personality, and experience of the leader. According to Graham (1991), the main types of leadership that have been identified are transactional, transformational, relational, post-industrial, and servant leadership.

The papers indicate that group member satisfaction (Foels, 2000), organizational performance (Jony, 2019), and employee performance (Suprianto, 2021; Murcahyanto, 2019) are positively influenced by democratic leadership style. Jony (2019) reported that democratic leadership style had a strong positive impact on organizational performance, while autocratic leadership style had a significant negative impact. Laissez-faire leadership style did not affect organizational outcomes. Suprianto (2021) reported that employee performance was influenced by democratic leadership style, and Murcahyanto (2019) reported that lecturers' performance was significantly influenced by democratic leadership style. The papers suggest that democratic leadership style is effective in various organizational settings.

One group of studies suggests that laissez-faire leadership style negatively affects organizational performance, while democratic and transformational leadership styles positively affect it (Jony, 2019; Tufa, 2020; Koech, 2012; Jaafar, 2021). Another study shows that democratic, autocratic, and transformational leadership styles have a positive correlation with organizational performance, while charismatic, bureaucratic, and transactional leadership styles have a negative correlation (Al Khajeh, 2018). A third study examines the impact of leadership style on the performance of selected banks in Nigeria and finds that transformational and democratic leadership styles are the most effective, while other styles have mixed effects (Ojokuku et al., 2013). A fourth study identifies four leadership styles: directive, supportive, participative, and achievement-oriented, and argues that the best style depends on the task and the subordinates' personalities (Kiyak, 2020). A fifth study finds that relationship-oriented leadership styles lead to higher quality leader-member exchange relationships (Setley, 2013). A sixth study reviews literature on the role of leadership style in organizational change management and lists several leadership styles that can facilitate change (Mansaray, 2019). A seventh study meta-analyzes the gender differences in leadership style and finds that women tend to adopt a more democratic or participative style and a less autocratic or directive style than men (Eagly, 1990).

The above studies indicate that different leadership styles have varying impacts on organizations and that the optimal style depends on various factors. Successful leaders are facilitators who carefully recruit devoted and skilled employees. Research in organizational psychology and studies of organizational behavior suggest that management practices and employee motivation are key factors for organizational success or failure. The impact of different leadership philosophies on worker productivity was investigated in this study. The study found that autocratic leadership negatively affected the department's efficiency, as evidenced by high absenteeism, low morale, low job satisfaction, and turnover. On the other hand, egalitarian, transformational, and transactional leaders positively and significantly affected the employees' performance, as measured by their high morale, productivity, engagement, and commitment. The study identified four main styles: authoritarian, transformational, democratic, and transactional leadership styles. It also examined the effect of leadership styles on employee performance in the Somaliland Ministry of Education and Higher Studies. The study concluded that democratic, transactional, and transformational leadership styles had a positive relationship with employee performance, while autocratic styles had a negative relationship (Setiawan et al., 2021).

The main objective of the study was to determine whether "work alienation" mediated the effect of counterproductive behavior induced by democratic and autocratic leadership styles in organizations (Erdem, 2021). The study posed the question: "Do democratic and autocratic leadership styles have a mediating role in the perception of work alienation in counterproductive behaviors?" and attempted to answer it. The study used the quantitative research method and the relational scanning model, which is based on general scanning models, as the research model. The study collected data from four heavy machinery manufacturing companies in the Ankara OSTIM Industrial Zone using the simple random sampling method. The analysis of the data revealed that democratic leadership had a positive impact on work alienation, but no impact on counterproductive behavior. It also revealed that autocratic leadership had an impact on both work alienation and counterproductive behavior. Work alienation was found to mediate the relationship between democratic leadership and counterproductive behavior, but not the relationship between autocratic leadership and such behavior.

#### ➤ Leadership Styles Selected for This Study

The rationale for selecting the autocratic, democratic, and laissez-faire leadership styles in this study is elaborated as follows:

Firstly, the chosen autocratic, democratic, and laissez-faire leadership styles represent a range of authority exerted within the spectrum of leadership styles. The autocratic leadership style demonstrates maximum control over group members, with the leader holding peak levels of authority. In this style, subordinates have limited opportunities to contribute their opinions, as their input is disregarded, making them followers. On the other hand, the laissez-faire leadership style exerts minimal or no authority over group members, providing them with complete freedom. The democratic leadership style falls between these two extremes, balancing authority with freedom for group members. This study finds it intriguing to explore these three leadership styles due to their varying degrees of authority and the potential impact on workforce productivity.

Another reason for selecting these three leadership styles is their alignment with sociological theories on group psychology. According to these theories, group members tend to adopt certain characteristics of the group unconsciously. Considering India's democratic nature as a country, it can be postulated that individuals in India are likely to exhibit democratic traits to some extent. Thus, the democratic leadership style is hypothesized to be more prevalent among individuals in India. Consequently, this study incorporates the democratic leadership style to investigate its effects on workforce productivity.

Furthermore, extensive research has already been conducted on many other leadership styles, particularly transformational and transactional leadership, by various scholars across different studies worldwide. Given the existing knowledge on these styles, they were not included in this study to avoid redundancy and to focus on exploring the impact of the selected three leadership styles.

Lastly, it is worth noting that the questionnaires required for measuring all the different leadership styles are prohibitively expensive and beyond the financial means of the researcher. Consequently, this study limits its scope to the selected three leadership styles due to cost constraints associated with accessing comprehensive assessment tools for the remaining styles.

By choosing these specific leadership styles, this research aims to gain valuable insights into their effects on workforce productivity within the context of IT captive centers in India.

#### B. Rewards & Recognition on Workforce

Several studies suggest that reward and recognition programs can positively affect employee retention. Togher (2016) argues that remuneration packages and defined career paths are the most crucial factors of a reward strategy for retaining employees. Riak (2022) emphasizes that keeping good workers is vital for any organization and that organizations need innovative reward systems that meet employees' needs. Kwenin (2013) shows that when organizations' reward systems are adequate, they not only create fairness but also enhance retention. Ali (2009) establishes a positive relationship between reward and employee satisfaction. These papers indicate that reward and recognition programs, especially those that are perceived as fair and address employees' needs, can positively influence employee retention as well as their alignment with the organization mission and vision.

#### C. Organization Performance

Different leadership styles can have different effects on employee and organizational development, according to various papers. Oreg (2011) shows that transformational leadership behaviors reduce employees' intentions to resist organizational change, while dispositional resistance to change increases them. Nuraeni (2022) examines literature that focuses on variables that can enhance leadership style, teamwork, employee competence, and recruitment process for organizational development. Kiyak (2020) distinguishes different leadership styles that are appropriate for different tasks and subordinates, such as directive, supportive, participative, and achievement-oriented leadership. Mansaray (2019) reviews literature that indicates leadership is a crucial factor for successful change in any organization, and different leadership styles can facilitate change management processes.

Cherian et al. (2020a) find that democratic leadership and transformational leadership positively and significantly affect organizational performance in UAE-based organizations. Lenita Waty (n.d.) argues that organizational culture and leadership style are important elements that influence employee performance. Karacsony (2021) investigates the relationship between leadership style and organizational performance by quantitative analysis of 376 participants in Hungary. He also finds that leadership style explains 29% of the variance in organizational performance.

#### D. Organizational Culture

The excerpt examines how employee performance is affected by organizational culture and how the culture of the organization can be shaped by management. The study references two sources: Kumari and Singh (2018) and Narayana (2017). Kumari and Singh (2018) state that management should familiarize employees with the norms, values, and objectives of the organization, which are essential for comprehending the organizational culture. They also recommend that management should maintain a learning environment in the organization and that a proper comprehension of organizational culture should result in enhanced employee performance.

Narayana (2017) uses a literature review methodology to investigate the link between organizational culture and employee performance. He highlights the significant role of owners and top management in creating the organizational culture through their assumptions, shared visions, and behaviors. He also asserts that the organizational culture develops through the interaction between the management's beliefs and employees' experiences.

#### E. Employee Development and Training

The study discusses how employee development and training programs affect employee retention and organization growth. The text cites five sources: Kumari (2022), Manzoor (2022), Sharma (2020), Bhakuni (2023), and Tapasya Patil and Dr. Ajit Singh Patel (n.d.). Kumari (2022) shows that training and development have a significant relationship with employee retention. Manzoor (2022) shows that training and development programs increase employee intentions to stay, especially when the organization has a strong employee retention system. Sharma (2020) shows that continuous training and development practices lead to job satisfaction, which helps in employee retention. Bhakuni (2023) shows that training and development play a crucial role in the growth and development of the organization, resulting in high productivity and profitability. Tapasya Patil and Dr. Ajit Singh Patel (n.d.) examine the impact of training and development on employee retention in the manufacturing industry and find that training is an important factor to enhance organizational performance and retain employees.

Elsafty and Oraby (2022) review the literature on the relationship between employee training and employee retention and find that training and development, job performance, job satisfaction, and effective communication have a positive impact on employee retention. They conduct a field study using a questionnaire method to collect data from employees working in the private sector in Egypt and use a hierarchical multiple regression analysis to test their hypotheses. These sources suggest that employee development and training programs are effective strategies for improving employee retention and organization growth.

#### F. Communication and Feedback

The papers suggest that communication and feedback can improve employee performance in an organization. Rai (2013) found that interpersonal communication and quality of working life mediate the relationship between 360° feedback and performance of employees. Rony (2020) states that active constructive feedback is very vital in improving individual performance. Atambo (2016) found that effective communication, including downward, upward, and lateral communication, can enhance employee performance. A.M. (2023) found that effective communication stimulates decision-making processes and encourages effective communication among employees. Overall, these papers suggest that communication and feedback are important factors in improving employee performance in an organization.

#### G. IT captive centers

These papers do not directly address the research question of the impact of leadership on IT captive centers. Instead, they focus on various aspects of leadership and supply chain management. The study discusses the impact of different types of leadership on pricing, profits, quality, innovation, and competition in various contexts. The excerpt references four sources: Fang (2017), Liao (2019), Chang (2015), and Wang (2018). Fang (2017) investigates the effect of channel leadership and echelon dominance on pricing and profits in a two-tier collaborative channel. Liao (2019) examines a retailer's store-brand quality-positioning problem under different sourcing structures and types of price leadership. Chang (2015) explores the relative effectiveness of transformational-charismatic and transactional leadership on product and process innovations in China, and the contingent role of knowledge acquisition capability. Wang (2018) analyzes the impact of leadership strategy in rebate competition on supply chain members and rebate decision in a horizontal competition between two manufacturers selling substitutable products through a common retailer. These sources suggest that different types of leadership can have varying effects on various aspects of business performance and decision making.

#### H. Productivity

The text examines how leadership styles affect productivity in various industries. The text cites four sources: Balbuena (2020), Olayisade (2021), Purwanto (2020), and Madanchian (2021). Balbuena (2020) shows that leadership behaviors that focus on both productivity and people are strongly related to higher organizational productivity in Philippine higher education institutions. Olayisade (2021) shows that different leadership styles have different effects on employee productivity in the Nigerian oil and gas industry, with autocratic leadership being the most common style. Purwanto (2020) shows that transformational leadership and corporate culture have positive and significant effects on work performance in service companies in Indonesia, both directly and indirectly through mediating innovative work behavior. Madanchian (2021) also emphasizes the importance of transformational leadership in enhancing organizational performance.

These sources indicate that leadership styles are crucial for determining productivity and performance in various industries. The text also considers three major styles that are autocratic, democratic and laissez-faire leadership styles and their impact on productivity.

The study states the aim of the study as follows: to investigate and explore the relationships of autocratic, democratic and laissez-faire leadership styles on productivity. The text defines the research problem as follows: how do autocratic, democratic and laissez-faire leadership styles affect productivity?

## CHAPTER THREE SUMMARY OF THE LITERATURE REVIEW

The literature review reveals that there are various types of leadership styles, such as autocratic, democratic and laissez-faire leadership styles. The literature review also suggests that there is no single best approach to leadership style that can support the growth of both the organization and the employees. The literature review identifies the following aspects as the factors that influence the effectiveness of leadership styles:

- Rewards and Recognition for the employees
- Organization Performance
- Organization Culture
- Development and training of employees
- Communication and feedback system

These factors affect the productivity of the organization and the workforce. The literature review indicates that organizations often create competitive scenarios to motivate the workforce and align their development with the organizational goals. In this context, leadership styles play a vital role in deciding and implementing the above-mentioned factors to achieve the desired productivity and to cultivate the workforce.

This study aims to explore the impact of leadership style on workforce productivity in IT captive centers in India. By examining different leadership styles and their potential mediating factors, this research intends to provide useful insights and practical recommendations for organizations that seek to optimize their productivity levels in this dynamic sector.

#### REFERENCES

- [1]. Khan, Nosheen Adnan, n.d. Impact of Leadership Styles on Organizational Performance.
- [2]. Purwanto, I. Bernarto, Masduki Asbari, L. M. Wijayanti, Choi Chi Hyun, n.d. the impacts of leadership and culture on work performance in service company and innovative work behavior as mediating effects.
- [3]. Afet Kiyak, F. Bozkurt, n.d. A review on impact of leadership styles in organizations.
- [4]. Akparep, J.Y., Jengre, E., Mogre, A.A., 2019. The Influence of Leadership Style on Organizational Performance at TumaKavi Development Association, Tamale, Northern Region of Ghana. Open J. Leadersh. 08, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojl.2019.81001
- [5]. Al Khajeh, E.H., 2018. Impact of Leadership Styles on Organizational Performance. J. Hum. Resour. Manag. Res. 1–10. https://doi.org/10.5171/2018.687849
- [6]. Al-Awlaqi, M.A., Aamer, A.M., Barahma, M.M., Battour, M., 2021. The interaction between leadership styles and their followers' human capital: a correspondence analysis approach applied to micro-sized businesses. J. Manag. Dev. 40, 74–93. https://doi.org/10.1108/jmd-05-2019-0172
- [7]. A.M., S., O.F., A., A.A., A., I.O., A., 2023. Effective Communication: A Stimulant to Employees' Performance in an Organization. Int. J. Lit. Lang. Linguist. 6, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.52589/ijlll-3k66099i
- [8]. Azanza, G., Moriano, J.A., Molero, F., 2013. Authentic leadership and organizational culture as drivers of employees' job satisfaction. Rev. Psicol. Ia Trab. Las Organ. 29, 45–50. https://doi.org/10.5093/tr2013a7
- [9]. Bhakuni, S., Saxena, S., 2023. Exploring the Link between Training and Development, Employee Engagement and Employee Retention. J. Bus. Manag. Stud. 5, 173–180. https://doi.org/10.32996/jbms.2023.5.1.17
- [10]. Oku, Emeka Okpala, n.d. THE IMPACT OF LEADERSHIP STYLES ON ORGANIZATIONAL PERFORMANCE IN ROKANA INDUSTRY OWERRI, IMO STATES, NIGERIA.
- [11]. C., O.T., T., A., Okwu, O., V., Akpa, A., I., Nwankwere, 2012. effects of leadership style on organizational performance: a survey of selected small scale enterprises in ikosi-ketu council development area of lagos state, nigeria. Aust. J. Bus. Manag. Res. 01, 100–111. https://doi.org/10.52283/nswrca.ajbmr.20110107a11
- [12]. Chang, J., Bai, X., Li, J.J., 2015. The influence of leadership on product and process innovations in China: The contingent role of knowledge acquisition capability. Ind. Mark. Manag. 50, 18–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.04.014
- [13]. Cherian, J., B, G.V., P, P.R., P, R., 2020b. DO LEADERSHIP STYLES IMPACT ORGANIZATIONAL PERFORMANCE IN THE UAE CONTEXT? A STUDY. Int. J. Mech. Eng. Technol. IJMET 11. https://doi.org/10.34218/ijmet.11.9.2020.003
- [14]. M. Setley, P. Dion, James Miller, n.d. Do Various Styles of Leadership Significantly Relate to a Subordinate's Perceived Relationship with his Leader?
- [15]. Dimitrios Belias, A. Koustelios, n.d. Organizational Culture and Job Satisfaction: A Review.
- [16]. Eagly, A.H., Johnson, B.T., 1990. Gender and leadership style: A meta-analysis. Psychol. Bull. 108, 233–256. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.108.2.233
- [17]. Effendi, G.N., Pribadi, U., 2021. The Effect of Leadership Style on the Implementation of Artificial Intelligence in Government Services. IOP Conf. Ser. Earth Environ. Sci. 717, 012018. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/717/1/012018
- [18]. Elsafty, A., Oraby, M., 2022. The Impact of Training on Employee Retention. Int. J. Bus. Manag. 17, 58. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v17n5p58
- [19]. Elsan Mansaray, H., 2019. The Role of Leadership Style in Organisational Change Management: A Literature Review. J. Hum. Resour. Manag. 7, 18. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.jhrm.20190701.13
- [20]. ERDEM, A.T., 2021. Demokratik ve Otokratik Liderlik Tarzlarının \" Uretkenlik Karşıtı \. Iş Davranışına Etkisinde \. Işe Yabancılaşmanın Aracı Rol\" u: Ankara OST\. IM Sanayi B\" olgesinde Bir Araştırma. OPUS Uluslar. Toplum Araştırmaları Derg. 17, 873–902. https://doi.org/10.26466/opus.839136
- [21]. Fang, F., Gurnani, H., Natarajan, H.P., 2017. Leadership, Dominance, and Preeminence in a Channel Structure with a Common Retailer. Decis. Sci. 49, 65–120. https://doi.org/10.1111/deci.12266
- [22]. Foels, R., Driskell, J.E., Mullen, B., Salas, E., 2000. The Effects of Democratic Leadership on Group Member Satisfaction. Small Group Res. 31, 676–701. https://doi.org/10.1177/104649640003100603
- [23]. Friedman, H.H., 2016. Is Your Organization Run by the Right Kind of Leader? An Overview of the Different Leadership Styles. SSRN Electron. J. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2844519
- [24]. G. Tufa, n.d. Reviewing Relevance of Leadership Styles on Leadership Outcomes: An Epistemological Study of Bule Hora Town, Oromia Regional State, Ethiopia, Horn of Africa.
- [25]. Gregory, B.T., Harris, S.G., Armenakis, A.A., Shook, C.L., 2009. Organizational culture and effectiveness: A study of values, attitudes, and organizational outcomes. J. Bus. Res. 62, 673–679. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2008.05.021
- [26]. Jaafar, S.B., Mamat Zambi, N., Fathil, N.F., 2021. Leadership style: Is it autocratic, democratic or laissez-faire? ASEAN J. Manag. Bus. Stud. 3, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.26666/rmp.ajmbs.2021.1.1
- [27]. Jabeen, R., Rahim, N., 2021. Exploring the effects of despotic leadership on employee engagement, employee trust and task performance. Manag. Sci. Lett. 223–232. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.8.012
- [28]. Janssen, O., Van Yperen, N.W., 2004. employees' goal orientations, the quality of leader-member exchange, and the outcomes of job performance and job satisfaction. Acad. Manage. J. 47, 368–384. https://doi.org/10.2307/20159587
- [29]. Karacsony, P., 2021. Relationship between the leadership style and organizational performance in Hungary. Econ. Ann.-I 190, 128–135. https://doi.org/10.21003/ea.v190-12

- [30]. Kumari, N., Singh, D., 2018. Impact of Organizational Culture on Employee Performance. Prabandhan Indian J. Manag. 11, 53. https://doi.org/10.17010/pijom/2018/v11i6/128442
- [31]. KUMARI, S., 2022. the impact of training and development on employees retention. interantional j. sci. res. eng. manag. 06. https://doi.org/10.55041/ijsrem13044
- [32]. Leadership Style And Affective Commitment At Family Businesses, 2022. . Int. J. Soc. Sci. Amp Educ. Stud. 9. https://doi.org/10.23918/ijsses.v9i1p318
- [33]. Lenita Waty, n.d. THE EFFECTS OF ORGANIZATIONAL CULTURE AND LEADERSHIP STYLE ON EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE.
- [34]. Liao, B., Yano, C.A., Trivedi, M., 2019. Optimizing StoreBrand Quality: Impact of Choice of Producer and Channel Price Leadership. Prod. Oper. Manag. 29, 118–137. https://doi.org/10.1111/poms.13084
- [35]. Liridona Veliu, Mimoza Manxhari, Visar Demiri, Liridon Jahaj, n.d. THE INFLUENCE OF LEADERSHIP STYLES ON EMPLOYEE'S PERFORMANCE.
- [36]. M. Mărăcine, n.d. Organizational Culture Basic Element Of Organization Performance.
- [37]. Madanchian, M., Hussein, N., Noordin, F., Taherdoost, H., 2021. Effects of Leadership on Organizational Performance. EARTH Sci. Hum. Constr. 1, 58–62. https://doi.org/10.37394/232024.2021.1.10
- [38]. Majid, A., 2020. The Impact of Leadership Style on Organizational Performance in Pakistan's Service Sector. SSRN Electron. J. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3807888
- [39]. Murcahyanto, H., Asmawi, Moch., Madhakomala, M., 2019. Effect of democratic leadership style and organizational culture on lecturers' performance, in: Proceedings of the First International Conference on Technology and Educational Science. EAI. https://doi.org/10.4108/eai.21-11-2018.2282039
- [40]. Narayana, A., 2017. A Critical Review of Organizational Culture on Employee Performance. Am. J. Eng. Technol. Manag. 2, 72. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajetm.20170205.13
- [41]. Ojokuku, R.M., Odetayo, T.A., Sajuyigbe, A.S., 2013. Impact of Leadership Style on Organizational Performance: A Case Study of Nigerian Banks. Am. J. Bus. Manag. 2, 202. https://doi.org/10.11634/216796061706212
- [42]. Olayisade, A., Awolusi, O.D., 2021. The Effect of Leadership Styles on Employee's Productivity in the Nigerian Oil and Gas Industry. Inf. Manag. Bus. Rev. 13, 47–64. https://doi.org/10.22610/imbr.v13i1(i).3194
- [43]. P. Koech, n.d. The Effect of Leadership Styles on Organizational Performance at State Corporations in Kenya.
- [44]. Rai, H., Singh, M., 2013. A study of mediating variables of the relationship between 360° feedback and employee performance. Hum. Resour. Dev. Int. 16, 56–73. https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2012.740797
- [45]. S. Balbuena, John E. Perez, Stanislaus Irudayaselvam, Maria Magdalena Balaccua, n.d. Application of Leadership Theories in Analyzing the Effects of Leadership Styles on Productivity in Philippine Higher Education Institutions.
- [46]. Setiawan, R., Cavaliere, L.P.L., Navarro, E.R., Wisetsri, W., Jirayus, P., Chauhan, S., Tabuena, A.C., Rajan, R., 2021. The Impact of Leadership Styles on Employees Productivity in Organizations: A Comparative Study Among Leadership Styles. SSRN Electron. J. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3875252
- [47]. Shivangee Sharma, K. Rajpurohit, Karunesh Saxena, n.d. Impact Of Learning And Development Related Practices With Reference To Employee Retention: A Review Paper.
- [48]. Suprianto, S., Taufiq, D.W., Abdullah, A., Usniar, U., Hasriah, H., 2021. The Influence of Democratic Leadership Style on Employee Performance at the Watang Sawitto District Office Pinrang. J. Off. 7, 299. https://doi.org/10.26858/jo.v7i2.30076
- [49]. Tapasya Patil, Dr. Ajit Singh Patel, n.d. Impact of Training and Development on Employee Retention at Spareage Sealing Solutions.
- [50]. The Impact of Autocratic, Democratic and Laissez-Faire Leadership Styles on the Success of the Organization: A Study on the Different Popular Restaurants of Mymensingh, Bangladesh, 2019. Can. J. Bus. Inf. Stud. 28–38. https://doi.org/10.34104/cjbis.019.028038
- [51]. The Influence of Training and Development on Employee Retention: Empirical Evidence from Banking Industry in Tanzania, 2020. . Int. J. Polit. Sci. 6. https://doi.org/10.20431/2454-9452.0601003
- [52]. Umair Manzoor, Asmara Irfan, Sajjad Ahmad Baig, Ifrah Sajjad, Aman Ullah, Nabeel Khalid, 2022. The relationship between perceived training and development and employee retention: The mediating role of work attitudes and the moderating role of organizational support. J. Public Value Adm. Insight 4, 232–250. https://doi.org/10.31580/jpvai.v4i3.2099
- [53]. W. Atambo, Deborah Kemunto Momanyi, n.d. Effects of Internal Communication on Employee Performance: A Case Study of Kenya Power and Lighting Company, South Nyanza Region, Kenya.
- [54]. Wang, Z., Mi, J.J., Liu, B., 2018. Rebate Decisions and Leadership Strategy in Competing Supply Chain with Heterogeneous Consumers. Math. Probl. Eng. 2018, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/2598415
- [55]. Z. Rony, M. Yasin, Fatimah Malini Lubis, Faroman Syarief, n.d. The Role of Active Constructive Feedback in Building Employee Performance (Case study at a private construction company in Indonesia 2018-2019).
- [56]. Zhang, S., Liu, X., Du, Y., 2021. When and how authoritarian leadership influences employee innovation behavior in the context of Chinese culture. Leadersh. Amp Organ. Dev. J. 42, 722–734. https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-08-2020-0342